IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OSCAR RAY BOLIN, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. :

: Case No. SC95,775

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ANDREA NORGARD Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0661066

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of two sections and a three volume supplement. The first part, contained in volumes 1 through 4 (pages 1-518) consists of documents supplied by the clerk. Reference to this part of the record on appeal will be designated by "V", the volume number (1-4), and "R" preceding the page number. The second part of the record contains the court transcripts from the trial and pretrial hearings. References to this part of the record will be referred to by "V", the volume number, then by "T" and the appropriate page number. References to the supplemental record will be referred to as "SR" and the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Hillsborough Grand Jury returned an Indictment on August 1, 1990, charging Oscar Ray Bolin, Jr. with first degree murder, attempted robbery, and kidnapping. (V1,R29-32) Appellant's subsequent convictions for first degree murder and false imprisonment were overturned by this Court on February 9, 1995. (V1,T33-41); Bolin v. State, 650 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1995).

This Court reversed for a violation of the spousal privilege. In that opinion, this Court stated that a letter from Bolin to the investigating detective might establish a waiver of the spousal privilege. 650 So. 2d at 23-4. It was left to the trial court to determine whether "the circumstances together with the content of the letter...indicate that Bolin voluntarily consented to disclo-

sure by Coby of what she knew about Bolin's alleged criminal activities". 650 at 24.

On remand to the circuit court, the original trial judge disqualified himself on March 8, 1995, pursuant to Appellant's motion. (V1,R46-55) Bolin then moved to suppress the letter, seized from his jail cell following his attempted suicide in June 1991, which contained the possible waiver of the spousal privilege. (V1,R73-77) After a suppression hearing held August 3, 1995, the trial court ruled that the letter had been seized from Bolin's jail cell without probable cause that it was either contraband or evidence of a crime. (V2,R58;SR155-156) The State appealed to the Second District, which reversed on the rationale that the letter was "in plain view" and "evidence of the attempted suicide". State v. Bolin, 693 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). In an order dated July 10, 1997, this Court declined to accept jurisdiction. (V2, R368); Bolin v. State, 697 So. 2d 1215 (Fla. 1997). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari; 552 U.S. 973 (Fla. 1997).

The circuit court then heard Bolin's "Motion in Limine Letters" (V2,R371-376) on February 23 and March 16, 1998. (V11, T737-921) After hearing witnesses and evidence regarding the authenticity of a letter written by Bolin and addressed to his attorneys, the court ruled that this letter was not authentic. (V11,T919)

The judge then addressed the waiver question. Appellant's "Amended Motion in Limine...Waiver of Spousal Privilege . . ." (V1,R83-102) had originally been declared moot following the 1995

ruling which suppressed the letter. (V6,R19,SR156) At the pretrial hearing on February 23,1998, the court heard argument from defense counsel that Appellant's letter to Captain Terry should not be treated as a waiver of his spousal privilege. (V11,T838) Counsel noted that Bolin did not disclose any confidential communication in the letter. (V2,R315-318,V11,T839) At the time that the letter was written, the trial judge had already ruled that he no longer retained the privilege. (V2,R315, 324-5; V11,T839-40) Moreover, Bolin had placed a postage stamp on the letter, but never released it to the jail personnel for mailing. (V2,R323; V11,T842, 844) Therefore, there was no voluntary delivery of the letter to Captain Terry. (V2,R316,323;V11,T840)

Counsel further argued that Bolin's previous filing of a motion to discharge his attorneys because their actions had caused the trial judge to find a waiver of the spousal privilege showed his intent to assert his privilege at all times. (V2,R324;V11,8t42-44) Therefore, his suicide note should not be construed as a voluntary waiver when the judge had already told him that he no longer retained the privilege. (V2,R324-25;V11,T842-45)

The third point was even if the letter could be found to be a waiver, the waiver would only be prospective, not retrospective. (V2,R321, 328-36;V11,T846-7) Therefore, any waiver was subsequently revoked by reassertion of the privilege before Bolin's exwife testified at trial. (V2,R106,331-332;V11,T1s46-49) It was also contingent upon Bolin's attempted suicide actually resulting in his death. (V1,R332-33;V11,T146-48)

In ruling, the trial court conjectured that this Court would have been aware of the sequence of events and accordingly must have found that any waiver could be applied retroactively to Cheryl Coby's deposition testimony. (V11,T864-865.869-70,873-74) He ruled Bolin's letter was a voluntary waiver which, while "prospective only in its tone, had the legal effect of acting or operating retroactively". (V11,T890,893-94) At the March 16, 1998 hearing, the court reiterated his ruling; "the... letter amounts to a waiver of the spousal immunity privilege, subsequently withdrawn". (V11, T919)

At the February 4, 1999 hearing, defense counsel asked the judge to rehear his "Motion to Dismiss Counts Two and Three of the Indictment" (V1,R19-21; V3,R464-465;V12,T1043) This motion, based upon the running of the statute of limitations before the indictment was returned, had originally been heard and denied on August 3, 1995. (V1,R19) The basis for the rehearing was subsequent case law, which was argued to the court. (V12,R491,V12,T1058) The trial judge adhered to the prior ruling. (V3,R491;V12,T1058)

The court then considered Appellant's "Motion for Rehearing of Motion in Limine - Spousal Privilege." (V2,R468-471,V12,T1058-1065) The motion was based upon further research on whether a waiver of a privilege could later be revoked. (V3,R468-470;V12,T1059-1061) Defense counsel argued that a waiver can be revoked as long as the privileged material was not disclosed during the period that the waiver was in effect. (V12,T1059-1063) The State insisted that the only issue before the trial court was whether Bolin's waiver in the

letter was voluntary. (V13,T1064) The judge denied the motion. (V3,R468;V12,T1065)

Defense counsel also moved to continue the trial based upon his investigator's receipt of a telephone call from a prospective defense witness who would testify that another person confessed to the homicide shortly after it took place. (V3,R487489;V12,T1068-1073. This prospective defense witness could not be subpoenaed because he was avoiding warrants for his arrest. (V12,T1072) However, he said that he was planning to turn himself in soon. (V12, T1072) The court denied the motion for continuance. (V3, R487; V12,T1075)

The defense successfully excluded tapes made by Cheryl Coby while wearing a body bug. (V3,R500-502)

Appellant sought to exclude evidence relating to Mitochondrial DNA from his trial. (V3,R395-463) Following a hearing on February 4, 1999, the Motion in Limine was denied. (V3,R395)

Mr. Bolin was tried by a jury on the charges of first degree murder and false imprisonment on April 6-8, 1999, with Circuit Judge J. Rogers Padgett, presiding. (V3,R464-465;491;V5-11)

Objections to the use of any statements which would have been excluded under a spousal privilege were renewed. During the trial Bolin moved to exclude Cheryl Coby's video-taped testimony which had been taken due to her ill health in an effort to preserve her testimony. (V3,R518) Defense counsel argued that the attorney who had represented Bolin when Coby's testimony was video-taped had been ineffective in cross-examining her on the tape. (V3,R513) On

April 7, 1999, Defense counsel pointed out numerous instances where Coby's video-taped testimony differed from that in her earlier recorded statements and where the attorney had failed to point them out. (V9,T507) The motion was denied. (V3,R513) Three defense exhibits, a discovery deposition, Cherly Coby's testimony from the 1991 trial, and a deposition to perpetuate testimony were filed with the clerk by defense counsel. (SR3, R238-461)

During the testimony of Captain Terry, defense counsel objected to testimony that Bolin had attempted suicide. (V8,T380-381) Defense counsel argued that the suicide attempt was analogous to flight, was not relevant, and cast Mr. Bolin in a bad light. (V8,T380-381) The trial court overruled the objection. (V8,T382)

The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged on April 8, 1999. (V4,R555)

In the subsequent penalty trial defense counsel objected to the State's use of photographs of the body of Terry Matthews and Natalie Holley. Over objection, Gary Kling was permitted to testify about what an alleged eyewitness, Philip Bolin, to the Matthews case, had told him about the circumstances of that homicide. Over objection, John King testified as to the details of the Holley murder. (V10,T652-54) The jury was instructed on one aggravating circumstance, that Bolin had previously been convicted of a felony involving force or violence. (V4,R361)

The jury returned a recommendation of death by a vote of 12 to 0. (V4,T564)

Both the <u>Spencer</u> hearing and the hearing on the Motion for New Trial were held on May 14, 1999. (V4,R612-616) No testimony was taken. The Motion for New Trial was denied. (V12,T1100)

Mr. Bolin was sentenced to death on June 4, 1999. (V12,T1107) Sentencing orders were filed contemporaneously. (V12,T1107) The written order reflected the following findings: a single aggravating factor, that the defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use of force or violence, which was assigned the "greatest possible weight". (V4,R629)

statutory mitigators were found. Five non-statutory No mitigators were found to exist from Mrs. Bolin's testimony: gentle and caring person; appealing sense of humor; defendant is respectful to her; she and defendant love each other; she visits defendant. Each was assigned little weight. (V4,R630) Five nonstatutory mitigators were found based upon the transcript of Mr. Bolin's mother: defendant's father neglected him during his childhood; defendant's father abused and demeaned him physically and emotionally by beating him and ordering him to eat like a dog; the defendant witnessed frequent violence between his parents; the defendant's father threatened to kill him more than once; and that the defendant's mother took him to school chained to a dog leash. (V4,R630) Each was assigned some weight. (V4,R630)

Mr. Bolin was also sentenced to five years on the false imprisonment charge, to run consecutive to the death sentence. (V4, R624,626)

Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on June 4, 1999. (V4,R632) Pursuant to Article V,Section 3(b)(1) of the Florida constitution and Fla. R. Crim. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i), jurisdiction lies with this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. PRETRIAL HEARINGS

1. Frye Hearing Regarding Mitochondrial DNA

On February 20, 1999, the court conducted a hearing on the admissibility of evidence relating to Mitochondrial DNA. The following testimony was presented at that hearing:

John Stewart, a forensic examiner for the FBI laboratory, testified for the State. According to Mr. Stewart, his lab performs mtDNA analysis. (V12,T947) There are two types of DNA -nuclear DNA and mtDNA. Nuclear DNA is contained in the nucleus of a cell and is inherited from both the father and mother. (V12,T948) mtDNA is found outside the nucleus of a cell and is inherited only from the mother. (V12, T948)

mtDNA differs from nuclear DNA in significant ways beyond the way it is inherited. (V12,T949) Nuclear DNA degrades very rapidly, mtDNA at a slower rate. (V12,T950) mtDNA is used when nuclear DNA is not available. (V12,T950)

It was first believed that mtDNA was homoplasmic, like nuclear DNA. (V12,T959) In 1997 it was determined that mtDNA is actually heteroplasmic. (V12,T959) There are two types of heteroplasmypoint and "C" stretch. (V12,T960) In point heteroplasmy a single

individual can have two different bases at one spot. (V12,T960) It is estimated that this occurs in 8% to 10% of the population. (V12,T960) In "C" stretch heteroplasmy extra "C" bases are inserted in a long strain of "C"'s. (V12,T960)

mtDNA is subject to mutation. (V12,T960) A single paper published in 1997 estimated mtDNA mutates once in 33 generations. (V12,T961) There is disagreement within the scientific community on this figure. (V12,T961)

Mutation can also occur within an individual's mtDNA. (V12, T967) For example, one string of bases sequences might be viewed in one part of an individual and a different sequence found in another part of the same person. (V12,T967)

Contamination is a major concern with mtDNA. (V12, T961) FBI personnel wear gloves and lab coats. Efforts are taken to prevent cross contamination. (V12,T962) The FBI follows the guidelines developed by a technical working group called Twig Dam. (V12,T963) The FBI adopted a 10:1 (ten parts sample to one part contaminant) rule to deal with contamination.

Contamination is also a problem during the amplification process. (V12,T969) Amplification increases the copies of contamination. (V12,T969) This type of contamination is greater with mtDNA than the PCR amplification of nuclear DNA. (V12, T969) Contamination can also mimic heteroplasmy. (V12,T981)

According to Stewart, mtDNA analysis is used in different areas of academia and in the field of animal and plant biology. (V12,T952) It has been used to identify unknown remains. (V12,

T952) The FBI became involved in mtDNA analysis to help identify evidence that had been exposed the environment for long periods of time. (V12,T953)

Publication in the area of mtDNA began in 1988. (V12,T954) Another paper followed in 1990, this one generated by the FBI. (V12,T954)(State Exhibit 6) The FBI began testing mtDNA in 1992 and various employees of the FBI lab have published papers in 1994, 1995, and 1997. (V12,T956-959) (State's Exhibits 2,3,4) Stewart acknowledged that anything published prior to 1996 had relied upon the incorrect assumption that mtDNA was homoplasmic. (V12,T966-967)

mtDNA analysis is done by extracting very small amounts of DNA from the bone, teeth, or hair. (V12,T948) This extremely small amount of DNA is amplified, or copied many times. (12,T949;951) These copies are then sequenced to allow the individual base letters to be read. (V12,T949) Two regions (HV-1 and HV-2) of the mtDNA strand are read. (V12,T948) The questioned sample is then compared with the known sample. (V12,T949) A difference of two bases between the questioned sample and the known sample is an exclusion, assuming there is no heteroplasmy. (V12,T973) If there is no base difference between the known sample and the questioned sample, the individual cannot be excluded from being the source of the unknown sample. (V12,T973)

According to Stewart, mtDNA has been previously accepted in 13 instances, 12 in the United States and 1 in Australia. (V12,T979) Stewart opined that mtDNA was generally accepted in the scientific

community. (V12,T965) This opinion was based upon the input Stewart received at meetings and from other scientists. (V12,T966)

On cross-examination, Stewart acknowledged that other members of the scientific community aside from the FBI felt that mtDNA testing was in its infancy and that knowledge about the essential genetic features of mtDNA was scanty. (V12,T970) Stewart allowed that other studies were finding high degrees of mutation in pedigree samples. (V12,T970)

Stewart acknowledged on cross that mtDNA is the newest form of DNA testing. (V12,T972) mtDNA is the least sensitive and the least able to make differentiation of the available DNA testing methods. (V12,T982)

The database upon which the FBI relies upon to reach statistical comparison was composed of 1600 samples at the time of the hearing. (V12, T973) The samples were taken from 887 Caucasians, 99 Hispanics, 349 Africans, and 221 Asians. (V12,T978) At the time of the testing in this case the database numbered 1500. (V12,T973) In this case, there were 8 samples in the database that differed from the hair removed from the towel by one base and 36 samples that differed by two bases. (V12,T977) The eight samples that differed by one base could not be excluded according to FBI criteria (V12,T986-987) According to Stewart, Mr. Bolin's profile had not been seen before in the 887 Caucasians from the database. (V12,T981) The statistical calculation, according to Stewart, was that it was 141 times as likely that the hair came from Mr. Bolin than someone drawn at random and Caucasian; 55 times more likely

that it came from an African at random; 16 times more likely than from a Hispanic; and 35 more times likely than an Asian at random. (V12,T1026-1027)

Stewart was not an expert in statistics and couldn't comment on challenges to the statistical computations that he submitted. (V12, T983-985) Stewart did know that the other 8 samples that could not be excluded were not figured into the statistical compilations reached in the this case by the statistician, Dr. Basten. (V12, T987) Stewart could not say whether the statistical method of computation in this case had ever been utilized in any other case anywhere. (V12,T989) Stewart was unaware of any peer review or of any publications dealing with the method of statistical calculation used in this case. (V12,T990)

Dr. William Shields testified for the defense. (V12,T990) Dr. Shields is a professor at State University of New York, Syracuse. (V12,T991) Approximately two thirds of his work there deals with DNA. (V12,T991) He conducts research into the area of population genetics. (V12,T992) Since 1990 Dr. Shields has been doing work on the statistical aspects and the database aspects of forensic DNA and examining the databases that are used at a variety of forensic laboratories that perform both nuclear and mtDNA analysis. (V12, T993) Dr. Shields has testified as an expert approximately 90 times, for both the defense and the prosecution. (V12,T993; 1021) Mr. Bolin's case denotes the sixth time (and was the second case in Florida) wherein Dr. Shields testified on mtDNA. (V12,T993-994) In

addition to his testimony, a copy of a paper by Dr. Shields was introduced as evidence. (V3,R443-463)

According to Dr. Shields, contamination is a very big problem with mtDNA. (V12,T994) The reason is two-fold: The samples of mtDNA are much smaller and consist of only 26,000 base pairs as compared to the billions of pairs with nuclear DNA. The number of amplifications that must be done in order to compare samples causes a much higher probability of contamination in mtDNA that affects validity of the final results. (V12,T995)

According to Dr. Shields, the safeguards against contamination used by the FBI that came from the Wilson paper are inadequate for two reasons. The first is that the testing which led to the 10:1 rule promulgated by the Wilson paper was only performed once and with too small a sample -- a sample size of only five. This sample was too small to produce valid results. (V12,T996) According to Dr. Shields, such a study would be the equivalent of watching Penny Hardaway shoot five free throws, see him make all five, and then conclude that he never misses. (V12,T997)

The second reason the 10:1 ratio is invalid relates to the faulty way the FBI has of washing hairs. (V12,T997) The initial method of washing the FBI used didn't get rid of contaminants. (V12, T997) They have since switched to a somewhat better method. (V12,T997) This second method, though, was used by an different lab, Labcore. Labcore conducted validation studies in which they found that they could not get rid of contamination with the second

method. (V12,T998) Labcore switched to third method, rejecting the one still employed by the FBI. (V12,T998)

Dr. Shields also questioned the validity of the FBI methods of statistical calculations as reported in published papers. (V12, T998) The samples the FBI used were not large enough to reach valid conclusions. (V12,T998) Sample size is crucial to the reliable use of mtDNA. (V12,T999)

According to Dr. Shields, the early papers validating mtDNA relied upon the false assumption of homoplasmy. (V12,T998) Homoplasmy was considered to be an important feature of mtDNA. (V12, T999) Nuclear DNA is homoplasmic, you inherit half from your mother and half from your father. (V12,T1000) Thus, all the cells in an individual will have the same DNA. (V12,T1000)

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