## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OSCAR RAY BOLIN,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. SC95775

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

# ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

#### KIMBERLY NOLEN HOPKINS

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0986682
Westwood center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739
Fax (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Again, the likelihood ratio method of interpreting the mtDNA evidence in this case was accepted by both Dr. Basten for the State and Dr. Shields for Bolin. Moreover, this method of evaluating the results of mtDNA testing is specifically recognized by Drs. Holland and Parsons of the AFDIL. (Appellee's Exhibit B, pp. 32-33). Thus, Appellee properly demonstrated the general acceptance in the scientific community of this statistical interpretation of mtDNA results pursuant to the dictates of Frye.

#### C. Harmless error.

Should this Court ultimately determine that the mtDNA evidence was admitted in error, Appellant's conviction and sentence must still be affirmed given the other, independent overwhelming

evidence of Appellant's guilt. The State's case against Bolin provided enough additional evidence establishing Bolin's guilt for the murder of Stephanie Collins so as to render any error relating to the admission of the mtDNA evidence harmless.

First, the victim's body was found wrapped in bed sheets and hospital towels identified by Bolin's wife, Cheryl Bolin Coby, as belonging to the Bolins. (V7, T301, 303, 347; V8, T410). The hair found on the victim's body was also examined by a hair expert from the FBI who determined that the hair was consistent with Bolin's hair. (V9, T469).

By video, Bolin's deceased ex-wife, Cheryl Bolin Coby, testified at trial. Coby testified that on November 5, 1986, the day Stephanie Collins disappeared, Bolin told her there was a dead body in their trailer. (V8, T407). Although Bolin provided three different versions of events, he ultimately told Coby that he killed the girl because she could identify him. Bolin said he hit her over the head and stabbed her. (V8, T432). This version was consistent with the testimony of the medical examiner. (V8, T351-366).

Coby went on to reveal that she observed Bolin, at the trailer on November 5, 1986, pick up an object wrapped in her bed linens and put it in the back of the truck. (V8, T409). Bolin then told Coby that he cleaned up the trailer and hosed down the bathroom. (V8, T411). Coby and Bolin then drove to Morris Bridge Road and

Bolin discarded the body in the ditch. (V8, T411-412).

Upon returning to the trailer, Coby observed that everything inside was wet. She saw blood on the curtains, blinds and wall. Coby also saw a butcher knife on the counter. (V8, T412-413).

Lastly, on December 5, 1986, Coby and Bolin were watching live television coverage of the recovery of Stephanie Collins' body. At that time, Bolin told Coby, "That's her, the girl from the trailer." (V8, T415-416).

Later, Coby eventually came forward to police about her knowledge of the murder. Then, in July or August of 1990 she led Captain Terry to the location where Stephanie Collins' body had been left. (V8, T419).

Most importantly, at trial, Appellant did not challenge the fact that he disposed of the victim's body. Instead, Appellant's theory of the case argued that someone else committed the murder and Bolin disposed of the body. Appellant did not even deny that the body had been in his trailer and was wrapped in his bed linens. Rather, Appellant argued to the jury that his hair could have been on the body simply by his actions after the other unknown person committed the murder. (V9, T577-578, 582).

In view of this overwhelming evidence of Bolin's guilt, any error relating to the admission of the mtDNA evidence must be deemed harmless. This is especially true in view of the additional expert testimony finding Bolin's hair to be consistent with the

hair found on the victim's body. The mtDNA evidence was actually cumulative of this testimony. As such, no reversible error occurred.

#### ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PROHIBITED DEFENSE COUNSEL FROM IMPEACHING THE VIDEOTAPED TESTIMONY OF CHERYL BOLIN COBY WHERE THE STATE COULD NOT HAVE REHABILITATED THE DECEASED WITNESS. (AS RESTATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant claims error resulted from prior defense counsel's cross-examination of Cheryl Bolin Coby during her videotaped testimony which was admitted at trial. According to Appellant, defense counsel failed to adequately cross-examine Coby regarding allegedly prior inconsistent statements. As seemingly admitted by Appellant, (Initial Brief, p. 91, n. 10), this issue challenges the effective assistance of counsel during cross-examination which is not appropriately raised on direct appeal. See Strickland v. State, 739 So. 2d 1195, 1196 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)(citation omitted).

However, if this matter were properly addressed on direct appeal, failing to present cumulative impeachment evidence does not constitute ineffective assistance. See State v. Reichman, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S163 (Fla. February 24, 2000), citing Valle v. State, 705 So. 2d 1331, 1334-35 (Fla. 1997); Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So. 2d 541, 545-46 (Fla. 1990). Here, the defense counsel who crossexamined Coby during her videotaped testimony effectively impeached her on multiple points. Thus, Appellant's claim of ineffective assistance cannot succeed.

In cross-examining Coby on the videotape, defense counsel attacked her credibility based upon her dire financial situation

and her knowledge of and affirmative actions towards obtaining the reward money of \$63,000.00. (V8, T443-445). At the time that Coby finally spoke to police about the murder of Stephanie Collins, Coby was not working due to ill health and had outstanding medical bills over \$5,000.00. (V8, T442-423). In her divorce from her second husband, Coby was actually fighting to ensure that she recovered the reward money. (V8, T445-446). Coby's credibility was further called into question based on her admitted fear that she would be charged as an accessory after the fact in this case and the fact that no charges had been brought against her at the time of her testimony. (V8, T448-449).

Further, defense counsel used Coby's prior statements to impeach her videotaped testimony concerning whether Bolin ever admitted to killing Stephanie Collins and whether he threatened Coby with a gun on the night he disposed of the body. (V8, T432 and 435). Defense counsel also fully elicited testimony from Coby regarding her poor vision and the poor lighting at the trailer in order to cast doubt on what she may have actually been able to observe. (V8, T425-426,436-438). Upon further questioning by defense counsel, Coby admitted the possibility that someone other than Bolin could have been involved in the murder. (V8, T439). Finally, on cross-examination, defense counsel brought out the fact that Coby initially lied to police when they first approached her about Bolin's crimes. (V8, T442).

Finally, defense counsel focused his closing argument on Coby's lack of credibility. The argument highlighted numerous inconsistencies in her testimony as well as other ulterior motives Coby possessed for implicating Bolin in the murder. (V9, T584-591). Under these circumstances, defense counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to impeach the witness on every minute difference in her various statements only gleaned from the record by the benefit of hindsight. See Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1073 (Fla. 1995)(standard is not how present counsel would have proceeded, in hindsight, but rather whether there was both a deficient performance and a reasonable probability of a different result).

#### ISSUE V

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BASED UPON MAJOR TERRY'S TESTIMONY THAT THE LETTER FROM BOLIN CAME INTO TERRY'S POSSESSION FOLLOWING BOLIN'S SUICIDE ATTEMPT. (AS RESTATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant argues that the testimony that he had attempted suicide was improperly admitted. In context, Captain Terry testified that he came into possession of the suicide letter discussed above in Issues I and II following Bolin's attempted suicide. The trial court properly denied the defense motion for mistrial based upon Captain Terry's statement, stating that the testimony was proper evidence of consciousness of guilt. See Walker v. State, 483 So. 2d 791 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), rev. den., 492 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1986).

Defendant's reliance upon the contrary holding in <u>Meggison v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 540 So. 2d 258 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1989), is misplaced. In <u>Meggison</u>, the defendant's suicide attempt was admitted along with an instruction that permitted the jury to construe the attempted suicide as evidence of flight. The case was reversed based on the appellate court's determination that the timing of the attempted suicide, after the defendant had pled guilty and was awaiting sentencing, indicated the evidence was not probative of flight from a pending prosecution. <u>See Meggison</u>, 540 So. 2d 258, 259. Thus, the pivotal issue addressed in <u>Meggison</u> does not exist in the

instant case.

Here, as in <u>Walker</u>, Bolin's suicide attempt occurred while charges were pending against him. Moreover, the suicide note specifically referenced all three of the murders charged against Bolin. So, if the defense had questioned at trial whether the suicide attempt was actually probative of guilt for the murder of Stephanie Collins as opposed to one of the other murders, the rest of the letter would have been admissible for rebuttal purposes. <u>See Meggison</u>, at 259. As such, the trial court properly allowed evidence of the attempted suicide to be admitted.

Alternatively, assuming any error occurred based upon Terry's reference to the attempted suicide, such error must be deemed harmless. First, Appellant's assertions to the contrary, the date of the attempt could not have prejudiced the jury in terms of a possible retrial any more than the date of the actual offense. Moreover, as stated above, Terry's testimony, in context, referred to circumstances surrounding the admissibility of the letter and how it came into his possession. Thus, Terry's testimony was relevant for reasons other than to demonstrate consciousness of guilt.

Finally, the overwhelming evidence of Bolin's guilt, discussed above in Issue IV further merits a determination of harmless error. Any error in the reference to Bolin's attempted suicide fails to require reversal in the face of the other strong evidence of guilt.

#### ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE DEATH SENTENCE RECOMMENDATION OF THE JURY WAS TAINTED BY EVIDENCE OF BOLIN'S CONVICTION FOR THE MURDER OF TERRY MATTHEWS WHICH WAS LATER VACATED. (AS RESTATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant next argues that the introduction and consideration of his Pasco County conviction for the murder of Terry Matthews, a conviction which was later overturned, <u>Bolin v. State</u>, 736 So. 2d 1160 (Fla. 1999), improperly tainted the outcome of the penalty phase in the instant case. Appellant also challenges the evidence of the Matthews murder as presented through the testimony of Detective Kling. The State contends that the evidence was properly presented, and any error created by the subsequent reversal of one of Bolin's prior felony convictions must be deemed harmless.

Here, Bolin was convicted of the first degree murder and false imprisonment of Stephanie Collins. (V4, R555). The jury recommended death by a vote of 12 to 0. (V4, R564). The trial judge followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Bolin to death for the first degree murder conviction, finding the following aggravating factor:

# 1. The defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another.

The court and jury heard the testimony of the victim of a kidnapping and rape committed by the defendant in Ohio in 1987 and certified court records of the defendant's convictions for those offenses were received into evidence. Additionally, certified court records of the defendant's earlier conviction for First Degree Murder of Terry Lynn Matthews in Pasco County were

received into evidence. And, finally, certified court records of the defendant's conviction for First Degree Murder of Natalie Holley in Hillsborough County were received into evidence.

This aggravating factor was proved beyond a reasonable doubt. (V4, R628-629).

Consequently, while Bolin's conviction for the murder of Terry Matthews was later overturned, the aggravating factor used in this case was also based upon other valid prior violent felonies: rape and kidnap of the Ohio woman and the murder of Natalie Holley. Therefore, the subsequent reversal of the Matthews conviction does not mandate a new sentencing proceeding for the murder of Stephanie <u>See Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So. 2d 849 (Fla. 1990)(not Collins. entitled to new sentencing proceeding when conviction for prior armed assault with intent to murder was vacated where defendant's part in robbery conviction remained undisturbed and there was still a basis for aggravating circumstances of prior conviction of violent felony); and Daugherty v. State, 533 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 1988) (reversal of one prior conviction for violent felony did not render defendant's death sentence unconstitutionally unreliable or require resentencing where the aggravating circumstance that defendant had previously been convicted of another capital felony or felony involving the use of threat of force applies by virtue of defendant's other prior convictions for murder, armed robbery, and aggravated assault).

Instead, where a prior conviction is reversed and remanded for

a new trial, this Court must determine the harmless nature of the reversal. See Rivera v. State, 629 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1993), citing Preston v. State, 564 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 1990), and Johnson v. Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578 (1988). Here, the existence of two other prior violent felonies committed by Bolin, including a separate murder conviction<sup>6</sup>, clearly demonstrates harmless error with regard to the reversal of the Matthews conviction.

As for Appellant's argument that the court erred in allowing Detective Kling to testify regarding the prior conviction for the Matthews' murder, this Court has repeatedly held that the admission of such evidence is proper. See Jones v. State, 748 So. 2d 1012, 1026 (Fla. 1999); Waterhouse v. State, 596 So. 2d 1008, 1016 (Fla. 1992); Hudson v. State, 708 So. 2d 256, 261 (Fla. 1998); and Clark v. State, 613 So. 2d 412, 415 (Fla. 1992). The hearsay testimony from Detective Kling was permissible, as noted by Appellant, pursuant to Rodriguez v. State, 753 So. 2d 29, 45 (Fla. 2000). Moreover, Appellant was able to challenge the credibility of the hearsay statements attributed to Phillip Bolin on cross-examination of Detective Kling by pointing out that numerous contradictory statements had been made by Phillip Bolin. (V10, T681). Thus, Appellant was not denied the opportunity to rebut the hearsay testimony.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Compare Long v. State, 529 So. 2d 286, 293 (Fla. 1988)(death sentence reversed where *only prior murder* conviction used to support aggravating factor reversed and vacated).

Finally, the challenge to the introduction of photographs of Terry Matthews' body is also without merit as this evidence was relevant and admissible to assist the jury in evaluating Bolin's character and the circumstances of the crime. Upon rejecting a similar argument in Zakrzewski v. State, 717 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1998), this Court noted that Section 921.142(2), Florida Statutes (1995), describes the procedure for the penalty phase of a capital case, states "[a]ny such evidence which the court deems to have probative value may be received, regardless of its admissibility under the exclusionary rules of evidence...." Id., at 494-495. Accordingly, as the photos were not unduly focused upon or made a feature of the trial, and as they were relevant to assist the jury in evaluating the character of the defendant and the circumstances of the crime, no error resulted from their admission. See Jones v. State, 748 So. 2d 1012, 1026 (Fla. 1999); and <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 256, 261 (Fla. 1998).

In conclusion, any error with regard to the consideration of Bolin's conviction for the murder of Terry Matthews must be deemed harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Where the aggravating factor concerning Bolin's previous violent felony convictions was well established by the evidence in support of Bolin's other violent felony convictions, Appellant's death sentence must be affirmed.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the judgment and sentence should be affirmed.